FILED Court of Appeals Division I State of Washington 7/9/2019 9:20 AM FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 7/9/2019 BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

Replaces petition filed 7/8/19 at 4:58 pm

97399-7

Case No. 77771-8-I

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION I

JOSE DIAZ,

Appellant,

v.

ERIC HSUEH.; EASTSIDE FUNDING, LLC. & PACIFIC CENTER CONDOMINIUM OWNERS ASSOCIATION; and all other persons unknown claiming any right, title, estate, lien or interest in the real estate described in the complaint herein,

Respondents.

AMENDED APPELLANT JOSE DIAZ'S PETITION FOR REVIEW

III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- 1. The correct manner in which to interpret the requirements of the plain language describing the six-month priority lien in RCW 64.34.364(3).
- 2. Whether the six-month priority lien description in RCW 64.34.364(3) allows for manipulation of the timing of the payment by a condominium association and junior lien holders to the detriment of innocent Sheriff's Sale bidders.

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Division I's Opinion is predicated upon an absolute refusal to require adherence to the plain language of the statute and this Court's binding decisions. The Court refused to allow oral argument on the case and instead rendered a decision that did not meaningfully address any of Mr. Diaz' arguments, allowing for a decision which will be used to deprive Mr. Diaz and other unsuspecting purchasers at condominium foreclosure auctions to

be defrauded by subsequent non-judicial foreclosure by former lienholders whose interests were extinguished by the Association judicial foreclosure.

Procedural History

Date	Filing/Description
3/6/17	Mr. Diaz filed a complaint in King County Superior Court on March 6, 2017 in Case No. 17-2-05160-8 against Eric Hsueh ("Hsueh"), Eastside Funding, LLC ("Eastside"), and Pacific Condominium Owners Association ("Association"). CP 1-4.
3/6/17	Complaint related to Mr. Diaz' purchase of a condominium at a judicial foreclosure auction in a separate lawsuit initiated by the Association against the property owner, Case No. 15-2-08119-5 SEA and his rights resulting therefrom.
8/1/17	Eastside filed its Answer and Counter-Claim. CP 5-8.
8/1/17	Hsueh filed his Answer and Counter-Claim. CP 9-12.
8/24/17	Mr. Diaz filed Motion for Summary Judgment and Declaration in support thereof by his attorney Russell Odell. CP 13-83.
9/26/17	Defendants Hsueh and Eastside filed a Motion for Summary Judgment and Declarations of Brian Jessen and Michael Malnati in support thereof. CP 84-133.
10/11/17	Association filed MSJ Response and Declaration of Kylee Klineberger in support thereof. CP 134-153.
10/26/17	Mr. Diaz filed a Response to Defendants' Motion for Summary Judgment and Declaration of Russell Odell. CP 154-192.
10/27/17	Hsueh and Eastside Funding filed a Response to Mr. Diaz' Motion for Summary Judgment. CP 193-197.

11/3/17 Hsueh and Eastside Funding filed a Reply in Support of their

Motion for Summary Judgment. CP 198-200.

- 11/3/17 Mr. Diaz filed a Reply/Rebuttal in Support of his Motion for Summary Judgment. CP 201-233.
- 11/9/17 The Court entered an Order Granting Summary Judgment to Defendants Hsueh and Eastside and Denying Mr. Diaz' Motion for Summary Judgment. CP 234-235.
- 12/8/17 Hsueh and Eastside filed a Motion for Attorney Fees under CR 11 and RCW 4.84.185 with a supporting Declaration of Michael Malnati. CP 239-270.
- 12/11/17 Mr. Diaz filed his Notice of Appeal. CP 271-272.
- 12/15/17 Mr. Diaz filed a Reply in Opposition to Defendants' Motion for Attorney Fees. CP 275-280.
- 12/19/17 Hsueh and Eastside Funding filed a Reply in Support of their Motion for Attorney Fees. CP 281-284.
- 1/19/18 The Court entered an Order Granting the Defendants' Motion for Attorneys' Fees. CP 236-238.
- 5/14/18 Mr. Diaz filed his Opening Brief in the Appeal.
- 7/27/18 Respondents filed their Answering Brief.
- 9/17/18 Mr. Diaz filed his Reply Brief.
- 4/18/19 Non-Oral Argument Date before the Court of Appeals, Division I panel.
- 4/22/19 Court of Appeals, Division III, issued Opinion in favor of Defendants.
- 5/13/19 Mr. Diaz filed Motion for Reconsideration.
- 6/6/19 Court of Appeals, Division III, issued Order denying Mr. Diaz's Motion for Reconsideration.
- A. The Junior Lienholders' Liens were Extinguished by the Judicial Foreclosure and Subsequent Sheriff's Sale.

The relevant facts are clear:

- (1) Complaint filed by the Association on **April 8, 2015**, alleged that the property owner, John Post, had been delinquent since April 2014; Case No. 15-2-08119-5 SEA ("Foreclosure case"). CP 102, ¶3.4. Defendants included Post's first mortgage lienholder, through servicing agent First Horizon.
- (2) The Association and First Horizon entered into a

 Stipulation and Order of Dismissal relating to payments made to the

 Association by First Horizon less than two months after the case was

 filed.
- (3) When the Stipulation and Order of Dismissal was entered on **June 22, 2015,** the arrears totaled fifteen (15) months. CP 108-109.
 - (4) Final judgment entered on **October 9, 2015**. CP 111-115.
- October 9, 2015 makes clear that assessment amounts for the months of November and December 2015 and January 2016 were added to the total amount due. CP 55. The only credits to the account come from receivership rental income during the litigation. *Id.* Thus, First Horizon did **not** pay the six-month priority lien prior to the Sheriff's Sale.
 - (6) The Sheriff's Sale occurred on January 8, 2016. CP 43-

44.

- eight months prior to the Sheriff's Sale date on January 8, 2016, did not constitute payment of the six month priority lien under RCW 64.34.364(3) because it was not made on amounts that "would have become due during the six months immediately preceding the date of the sheriff's sale in an action for judicial foreclosure by [] the association . . RCW 64.34.364(3) (emphasis added). The Association's ledger makes this abundantly clear. CP 55.
- (8) The Association's lien waprior to any mortgage liens (RCW 64.34.364(2)(b)) for said assessments. RCW 64.34.364(3).
- (9) The Sheriff's Notice of Return on Sale of Real Property was signed confirming the same. The Clerk sent its Notice of Return on Sale of Real Property and the Sheriff's Notice was recorded on **January 15, 2016**. CP 46-47.
- (10) Mr. Diaz was the successful bidder at the Sheriff's Sale and paid the Sheriff's Office his bid amount of \$12,181.64. CP 37-38.
- (11) Unbeknownst to Mr. Diaz, before the Sheriff's Sale even occurred, First Horizon caused to be initiated a non-judicial foreclosure which scheduled a sale date of **February 26, 2016** approximately one month after the Sheriff's Sale. CP 60-71. Notably, the Association and all

other lienholders received notice of the non-judicial foreclosure sale, but there was no notice provided to "Occupants" of the subject Property included in the Notice of Trustee's Sale as required by statute. RCW 61.24.040(1)(b)(vi). *Id.* Perhaps if proper Notice to Occupants had been delivered by the foreclosing trustee, Mr. Diaz might have become aware of what was happening after his purchase of the Property. Similarly, the Notice of Continuances of the sale to **March 11, 2016** and then to **March 25, 2016** were only mailed to the property owner, which is consistent with the statute. RCW 61.24.040(10) (previously RCW 61.24.040(6)). CP 72-75.

(12) When the Trustee's Deed upon Sale was recorded on April7, 2016, Mr. Diaz' interest in the subject real Property was illegally terminated.

The Association's decision to stipulate to the dismissal of First

Horizon from its lawsuit within the first two months after filing was based

upon a payment for amounts that did **not** "**become due during the six months immediately preceding the date of the sheriff's sale**" as

required by the statute. RCW 64.34.364(3) (emphasis added). In June

2015, consistent with the plain language of the statute, the Association

only had a six-month super priority lien for the **six months of assessments due BEFORE June 2015.** *Id.* Nevertheless, the Association and First

Horizon stipulated that "Plaintiff agrees that said payment and conditions above satisfy Plaintiff's lien priority with respect to the deeds of trust, and that the deeds of trust are fully superior to Plaintiff's lien..." CP 58. This Stipulation was done in express contravention of the binding case law and statutory requirements. *See, BAC Home Loans Servicing, L.P. v.*Fulbright, 328 P.3d 895, 899. The facts of this case make clear that the Association and First Horizon conspired together to violate the law, and their actions have been inappropriately endorsed by the Court of Appeals.

It is important to remember that the Association relied upon RCW 64.34.364 to allow for and facilitate the sale of the Property to Mr. Diaz, an unsuspecting bidder who relied upon the requirements of the plain language of the statute in making his bid and acquiring the Property. As it simultaneously actively sought to avoid its requirements to provide a benefit to First Horizon and to deprive Mr. Diaz of the rights which he acquired at the Sheriff's Sale, following confirmation of the sale on **January 15, 2016.** CP 37-38.

Once the Sheriff's Sale was complete, the lienholders whose liens were junior to the Association's six-month priority lien were extinguished under the plain language of the statute. RCW 64.34.364(2)(b) and (3). In spite of express statutory provisions that provide for extinguishment of these liens, Division I entered a decision which permits condominium

associations to conspire with other lienholders to avoid the provisions of the very statute which those associations use to foreclose their liens, to the express detriment of innocent purchasers such as Mr. Diaz.

V. STANDARD ON REVIEW

Mr. Diaz maintains that the Appellate Court's Opinion is in conflict with this Court's binding decisions surrounding how to interpret the varying lien rights involved in judicial foreclosures and the **applicable** statutes. RCW 64.34, *et seq.* Further, the issues in this case are a matter of substantial public interest because of the effect that improper statutory interpretation will have upon innocent purchasers at Sheriff's Sales resulting from manipulation of statutory provisions by those entities with superior knowledge and power. It will also likely chill bidding by innocent third parties once they realize that they are purchasing properties which will they lose shortly after acquisition through non-judicial foreclosures of the property for which they will not receive notice.

VI. ARGUMENT

- A. Division I's Decision is not supported by Washington law.
 - 1. Standard on Review at the Court of Appeals.

Division I maintained that it engaged in a *de novo* analysis under Civil Rule 56 as to whether summary judgment was appropriate, but Mr. Diaz maintains that the Court completely ignored its mandate. Instead of

properly reviewing the facts presented to the trial court and the plain language of the statute, the Court endorsed manipulations of the statute by the Association and a lienholder to benefit themselves

B. The COA's Opinion is in direct contravention of the plain statutory language and binding decisions rendered by this Court.

The Condominium Act splits the liens for unpaid association assessments into two liens. One lien is junior to the mortgages and the other lien is senior to all mortgages. Under RCW 64.34.364(2)(b), the "condominium association's lien is not prior to 'a mortgage on the unit recorded before the date on which the assessment sought to be enforced became delinquent." BAC Home Loans Servicing, L.P. v. Fulbright, 328 P.3d at 899. "The Condominium Act does not stop there but extends the exception further. RCW 64.34.364(3) provides that an association's lien shall be prior to mortgages on the unit recorded after the declaration but before the assessments sought to be enforced became delinquent, "which would have become due during the six months immediately preceding the date of a sheriff's sale." "In other words, the statute first alters the typical priorities, but then a condominium association regains its priority to collect six months' worth of unpaid assessments" in a judicial foreclosure. Id. at 899-900.

1. <u>The Stipulated Dismissal Order did not change the statutory requirements.</u>

The Dismissal Order entered into between the Association and First Horizon is **not** a statutory lien because it is not a monetary award for a "sum certain." Not every judgment of the Superior Court creates a "judgment lien."

A judgment may create either a statutory lien or an equitable lien on the judgment debtor's property. Under RCW 4.56.190, " [t]he real estate of any judgment debtor, and such as the judgment debtor may acquire, not exempt by law, shall be held and bound to satisfy any judgment of the ... superior court ... of this state." Our case law makes clear that, in order to create a statutory lien, the monetary award must be for a sum certain. See, e.g., Swanson v. Graham, 27 Wash.2d 590, 597, 179 P.2d 288 (1947) (" In order to create a statutory lien, there must be a judgment for a specific amount.").

Bank of America v. Owens, 173 Wn.2d 40, 49 (2011). The Dismissal Order is limited to having its terms apply **only** to the stipulating parties, the Association and First Horizon. CP 57-58. "The terms and conditions stipulated to herein will continue to bind and inure to the stipulating parties and to their successors and assigns." Yet, it simultaneously seeks to restructure the lien rights of the stipulating parties even though not permitted under the law (RCW 64.34, et seq.) and directly impacting persons who are not parties to the stipulation, including Mr. Post, the property owner, and Mr. Diaz, who was the successful bidder at the Sheriff's Sale. *Id*.

"Where a statutory lien is unavailable, a court may also create an

equitable lien. Such an order must be express." *Owens*, 173 Wn.2d at 49. Nothing in the Dismissal Order creates an equitable lien for anyone and instead, falsely reads that First Horizon retains its lien rights in **two**separate deeds of trust, in spite of the fact that it did not pay the assessments that became due six months prior to the Sheriff's Sale date and instead made payments before June 2015 on assessments overdue at that time. RCW 64.34.364(3). CP 55.

The Court of Appeals held in *Grand Investments v. Savage*, 49
Wn.App. 364, 369 (1987), quoted to *Singly v. Warren*, 18 Wash. 434, 438-39, 51 P. 1066 (1898) and its holding that a purchaser at sheriff's sale was a bona fide purchaser because no lis pendens or supersedeas bond was filed. Further, a sheriff's deed issued to purchaser despite superior court's orders later being reversed. Just like in *Singly v. Warren*, Mr. Diaz is a "stranger to the record" and "it would be unjust to require such purchasers to suffer loss on account of errors of the trial court of which they had no knowledge, and which they were nowise instrumental in producing." *Id*. This analysis is particularly instructive to this Court, as this is precisely

_

¹ It is also notable that the Dismissal Order makes clear that payment to the Association was made "by or on behalf of First Horizon" (¶3) and it related to First Horizon being a "party in interest to **two** deeds of trust" (emphasis added) (¶2). There are no provisions under any Washington real estate law that allows a "party in interest" to a deed of trust to have the power to do anything affecting that lien. *See*, RCW 61.24, *et seq.* and 64.34, *et seq.* Further, there is nothing in RCW 64.34.364(3) which allows an entity to make **one payment** of the alleged six month priority lien in order to avoid an association's lien on behalf of **two separate** lienholders.

the position that Mr. Diaz finds himself in. The Association and First
Horizon conspired to have the trial court enter a stipulated order which
expressly contravened the requirements of the statute to benefit
themselves to the detriment of future bidders, like Mr. Diaz. In particular
First Horizon took steps to actively deceive future bidders into purchasing
the Property at auction, only to deprive them on title to that property at a
future date.

B. The Court of Appeals Continues to Issue Unpublished Opinions on this Issue and This Court Must Determine the Correct Interpretation of the Law.

There have been other unpublished Opinions issued by the Court of Appeals which provide guidance on interpretation of the statute irrespective of the fact that they are unpublished. The decision in *Linden Park Homeowners Ass'n v. Mears*, Wash. Ct. of App. Case No. 72659-5-I (Oct. 15, 2015) did not address the impact of the *Grand Investments* or *Singly v. Warren* decisions and therefore has limited precedential value, but is consistent with the Opinion in this case, which ignores the plain language of the statute and other case law. Six months prior to writing the *Linden Park* decision, Judge Spearman authored another unpublished case holding that the mortgage bank slept on its rights when it failed to bid at the Sheriff's Sale foreclosing a condominium lien, and again slept on its rights when it failed to redeem the property. *See, Morgan Court Owners*

Association v. Deutsche Bank, Wash. Ct. of App., Case No. 71913-1-I (June 29, 2015). In both unpublished cases, Judge Spearman did not have the benefit of the published decision in *Liu v. U.S. Bank*, which held that a Condominium Association must foreclose its super-priority lien under language identical to RCW 64.34.030. *Liu v. U.S. Bank*, 179 A.3d 871, 878 (D.C. Cir. 2018) (holding anti-waiver language "precludes a condominium association from exercising its super-priority lien while also preserving the full amount of the Bank's unpaid lien.").

The Court of Appeals in this case did have the benefit of the *Liu* decision, but was apparently disregarded by the Court.

C. There was No Basis for Entering Civil Rule 11 Sanctions against Mr. Diaz and His Counsel as Other Trial Courts Have Held in His Favor.

Other trial court which have looked at these issues have entered orders which contradict the holding made by the trial court in this case and the Court of Appeals' decision. In *Jose Diaz v. Northstar Trustee, LLC, et al.*, Case No. 18-2-05864-3, King County Superior Court Judge Sandra Widlan granted partial summary judgment to Mr. Diaz, finding that his title to the subject property was superior to that of the foreclosing trustee and the successful bidder at the subsequent non-judicial foreclosure. A true and correct copy of the Order Granting Plaintiff's Partial Summary Judgment is attached to the Request for Judicial Notice as Exhibit "1".

When the Defendants in the *Northstar Trustee* case sought discretionary review, it was denied by the Commissioner in Division I and she used the following language in her Order:

Mr. Diaz moved for partial summary judgment, arguing in part that in January 2015 when the Bank paid condominium dues, it reestablished its lien as senior only as to the dues then owed. Mr. Diaz relied on RCW 64.34.364(3) (a condo association has a lien on a unit for unpaid assessments, the lien is prior to all other liens on a unit (with certain exceptions), and the lien also is prior to mortgages to the extent of common expenses that would have become due during the six months immediately preceding the date of the sheriff's sale in an action for judicial foreclosure by either the association or a mortagee), and BAC Home Loans Servicing, LP v. Fulbright, 180 Wn.2d 754, 328 P.3d 895 (2014) (when an association records its declaration, it establishes its lien priority to secure future obligations to make payments of condo assessments even though payments are not actually due at the time the declaration is recorded). The trial court granted Mr. Diaz's motion for partial summary judgment, ruling that his title is superior to North Star's and U.S. ROF's interest.

Diaz v. Northstar Trustee, supra, Order Denying Motion for Discretionary Review, attached to the Request for Judicial Notice as Exhibit "2". See also, Unpublished Opinions entered in the following cases: Exhibit "3", Mears vs. Condo Group, Case No. 72659-5-I, Wash. Ct. App., (Div. I, October 19, 2015); and Exhibit "4", Morgan Court Owners Association vs. Deutsche Bank, Case No. 71913-1-I, Wash. Ct. App. (Div. I, June 29, 2015).

Given that other judges interpreting the same statutory language

the amount that "would become due during the six months immediately preceding the date of the sheriff's sale" RCW 64.34.364(3) (emphasis added) did not allow for the same result determined in this case, it is clear that Mr. Diaz did not violate Civil Rule 11. This Court is reminded that there were no appellate decisions specifically dealing with this issue at the time that the sanctions were entered, and Mr. Diaz is engaged in arguing for a statutory interpretation not expressly addressed by the Courts.

Advocating for a new legal theory, especially one which is based upon the plain language of a statute, cannot constitute an abuse of civil proceedings.

Not only is it clear that Mr. Diaz should have prevailed at the trial court and at the Court of Appeals based upon the plain language of the statute, but it is also clear now that this litigation was not frivolous. This Court must accept review of this decision and provide the citizens of Washington with the proper method of interpreting the plain meaning of the relevant statutory language. This is especially true in light of the very significant implications that these unpublished decisions have upon the rights of innocent bidders at Sheriff's Sales.

VII. CONCLUSION

Mr. Diaz respectfully requests that the Supreme Court accept review of this Opinion, and some other similar Opinions issued by

Division I, because they have resulted in a body of case law, irrespective of whether they are unpublished or not, upon which trial courts can and will rely to deprive innocent Sheriff's Sale purchasers from being defrauded.