FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
8/7/2019 1:37 PM
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON
CLERK

No. 97399-7

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

JOSE DIAZ, Appellant,

v.

ERIC HSUEH; EASTSIDE FUNDING, LLC & PACIFIC CENTER CONDOMINIUM OWNERS ASSOCIATION; and all other persons unknown claiming any right, title, estate, lien, or interest in the real estate described in the complaint herein,

Respondents.

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

Michael C. Malnati, WSBA #13577 Counsel for Respondent Eric Hsueh and Eastside Funding, LLC

REED LONGYEAR MALNATI & AHRENS, PLLC 1415 Norton Building 801 Second Avenue Seattle, WA 98104-1522 (206) 624-6271

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

IV. LAW AND ARGUMENT

A. The Undisputed Facts, Confirmed by Court Order, Show Unequivocally that after Payment of the Super Priority Lien, the First Horizon Deeds of Trust were in Senior Lien Priority Positions on the Condo.

The merits of this lawsuit basically begin and end with the Stipulated Order Dismissing Defendant First Horizon entered in the Condo Lawsuit. Even a cursory review of the Condo Lawsuit pleadings would have revealed that the interest Plaintiff Diaz purchased at the sheriff's sale was junior and subordinate to the deed of trust liens of First Horizon.

The Stipulated Order had already determined all the issues that Diaz sought to litigate in his lawsuit. Did First Horizon pay the six months of assessments to satisfy the super priority lien contemplated by RCW 64.34.364(3)? Answer: Yes. Were First Horizon's deed of trust liens fully superior to the Condo Association lien yet to be foreclosed? Answer: Yes. Was First Horizon dismissed from the Condo Lawsuit with prejudice so that

its deed of trust liens could not possibly be affected by the subsequent Condo lien foreclosure? Answer: Yes.

B. Appellant has failed to establish that any of the tests under RAP 13.4(b) exist.

A petition for review will be accepted by the Supreme Court only:

- (1) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court; or
- (2) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with another decision of the Court of Appeals; or
- (3) If a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States is involved; or
- (4) If the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court.

RAP 13.4(b).

In the present case, the Petitioners fail to offer any argument or explanation why the Court of Appeals' decision (1) conflicts with a decision of the Supreme Court; (2) conflicts with another decision of the Court of Appeals; (3) is a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington United States; or (4) involves an issue of substantial public interest.

Appellant attempts to frame his version of the interpretation of the super priority lien statute as a matter of

substantial public interest. This argument ignores the reality that, in this case, the issue of whether the six months of assessments were paid to satisfy the super priority lien contemplated by RCW 64.34.364(3) had been decided and incorporated into a valid and final court order that Diaz either failed to look at or failed to understand. The petition for review attempts to portray Diaz as an "innocent purchaser", when the record establishes that Diaz was an "uniformed purchaser" who failed to do the necessary due diligence required of an investor electing to participate in the high-risk field of foreclosure sale bidding.

RCW 64.34.364 balances the competing interests of mortgage lenders versus condominium associations by giving a limited priority to association liens for delinquent assessments over the lien of a prior recorded mortgage. This limited priority ("super priority lien") is limited to six months of assessments.

RCW 64.34.364 provides in relevant part:

- (1) The association has a lien on a unit for any unpaid assessments levied against a unit from the time the assessment is due.
- (2) A lien under this section shall be prior to all other liens and encumbrances on a unit except: (a) Liens and encumbrances recorded before the recording of the declaration; (b) a mortgage on the unit recorded before the date on which the

assessment sought to be enforced became delinquent; and (c) liens for real property taxes and other governmental assessments or charges against the unit. A lien under this section is not subject to the provisions of chapter 6.13 RCW.

(3) Except as provided in subsections (4) and (5) of this section, the lien shall also be prior to the mortgages described in subsection (2)(b) of this section to the extent of assessments for common expenses, excluding any amounts for capital improvements, based on the periodic budget adopted by the association pursuant to RCW 64.34.360(1) which would have become due during the six months immediately preceding the date of a sheriff's sale in an action for judicial foreclosure by either the association or a mortgagee, the date of a trustee's sale in a nonjudicial foreclosure by a mortgagee, or the date of recording of the declaration of forfeiture in a proceeding by the vendor under a real estate contract.

(Emphasis added)

First, under subsection (2)(b), the statute provides that the condominium's lien for unpaid assessments does not have priority over mortgages on the unit recorded before the date on which the assessment sought to be enforced becomes delinquent. Subsection (3) then carves out a limited exception to this priority rule. The statute grants priority over the prior mortgage, limited to six months

of common assessments based on the association's common periodic budget that would be due prior to a foreclosure sale.

The Stipulated Order Dismissing Defendant First Horizon tracks exactly how this statutory scheme works in practice. That Order established the following: (1) Payment by First Horizon satisfied the super priority lien contemplated by RCW 64.34.364(3); (2) The First Horizon deeds of trust were "fully superior" to the lien of the Condo Plaintiff; and (3) First Horizon was dismissed from the Condo Lawsuit with prejudice.

First Horizon was no longer a party in the Condo Lawsuit and the condominium foreclosure could not affect its prior deed of trust liens. *Valentine v. Portland Timber & Land Holding Co.*, 15 Wn.App 124, 128, 547 P.2d 912 (1976). In *Davis v. Bartz*, 65 Wash. 395, 401, 118 P. 334 (1911), the court held that a prior party who has a record interest is not affected by a lien foreclosure action to which it is not made a party. The decree of foreclosure in the Condo Lawsuit confirmed this obvious conclusion: The Condo Plaintiff was not seeking and did not foreclose the senior lien interests of First Horizon who was no longer a party to the lawsuit.

First Horizon's actions were fully consistent with the statutory scheme created by the legislature. The Court of Appeals

in *Summerhill Vill. Homeowner Ass'n v. Roughly*, 166 Wn. App. 625, 648, 289 P.3d 645 (2012) set forth the legislative history of the super priority lien statute:

The official comments to RCW 64.34.364 reveal the expectation of the legislature:

As a practical matter, mortgage lenders will most likely pay the assessments demanded by the association which are prior to its mortgage rather than having the association foreclose on the unit and eliminate the lender's mortgage lien. (Citing *2 Senate Journal*, 51st Leg. Reg. Sess., App A at 2080 (Wash. 1990).

Without argument or analysis, Appellant Diaz contends that the Stipulated Order was in contravention of binding case law, citing *BAC Home Loans Servicing, LP v. Fulbright*, 180 Wn. 2d 754, 328 P.3rd 895 (2014). That contention is simply wrong. Unlike First Horizon, who took affirmative steps to protect its interests, the senior lien lender in the *BAC Home Loans* case did not. As the Court in *BAC* noted: "Because of an internal error, Bank of America did not appear. On June 24, 2009, the superior court entered a default judgment and foreclosure decree against Lewis and Bank of America." *Id.* at 757. The issue in *BAC* was

whether Bank of America had statutory redemption rights. That is not at issue in this case as First Horizon protected its lien priority position, and was dismissed from the condominium lawsuit with prejudice after having the lien priority of its deeds of trust confirmed by court order. Appellant has not and cannot cite any legal authority that supports his argument that the First Horizon deeds of trust were subordinate to the condominium lien or were affected in any way by the sheriff's sale.

The statute does not require that the six months of payments has to be paid on the eve of one of the triggering events described in the statute. The assessments due are based on a budget adopted by the association. The "which would have been due" language in the statute clearly contemplates payment in advance. Foreclosure sales are fluid events and can be moving targets. What if a senior lien lender paid the six months of assessments within the six months prior to a scheduled foreclosure sale and then that sale was continued for some reason? Plaintiff would argue that they would have to pay it again? That isn't what the statute says, the argument defies common sense and most importantly, it flies in the face of the express language in the Stipulated Order which provided in the

clearest of terms that First Horizon paid the super priority lien in full.

The argument of Diaz boils down to the contention that the statute does not allow a mortgage holder to pay the priority lien amount in advance. Respondents believe that argument to be wrong, but as the Court of Appeals noted in its opinion:

"Regardless of the merits of his interpretation of the statute, Diaz cannot avoid the legal effects of the court's orders entered in the Association's lawsuit."

B. The Undisputed Facts show that the Interest of Diaz was extinguished at the nonjudicial trustee's sale where Hsueh was the successful purchaser.

Having been dismissed from the Condo Lawsuit and having its senior lien priority established by court order, First Horizon proceeded with a non-judicial deed of trust foreclosure on its first lien deed of trust under the Deed of Trust Act, RCW 61.24. At the time the First Horizon foreclosure notices were issued, Plaintiff Diaz had no interest, record or otherwise, in the Condo. He would not bid at the sheriff's sale for approximately another three months. Plaintiff Diaz had, at a minimum, constructive notice of the recorded Notice of Trustee's Sale under the Recording Act, chapter RCW 65.08. A properly recorded instrument provides the world

with constructive notice of its existence. The recording acts operate to charge subsequent purchaser with constructive notice of all instruments of record in the chain of title. *Honefenger v. Green*, 145 Wash. 39, 42, 258 P. 840 (1927).

Because the trustee's sale was noted months prior to

Plaintiff Diaz acquiring any interest in the Condo, he was not

entitled to any notices from the foreclosure trustee. He is charged

with notice of the trustee's sale. He failed to protect his interest

prior to the trustee's sale and that interest was extinguished.

C. <u>Plaintiff Diaz is not a bona fide purchaser, failed to make a reasonable inquiry as to the condition of title, and at a minimum, had constructive notice of the court's orders and records in the Condo Lawsuit.</u>

The bona fide purchaser doctrine provides that a good faith purchaser for value who is without actual or constructive notice of another's interest in the real property has superior interest in the property. *Levien v. Fiala*, 79 Wn.App. 294, 298, 902 P.2d 170 (1995). However, if the purchaser has knowledge or information that would cause an ordinarily prudent person to inquire further, and if such inquiry, reasonably pursued would lead to the discovery of title defects or of equitable rights of others regarding the property, then the purchaser has constructive knowledge of everything the

inquiry would have revealed. *Albice v. Premier Mortg. Services of Washington, Inc.* 174 Wn.2d 560, 573, 276 P.3rd 1277 (2012).

Here, the court record was clear that First Horizon took the steps to retain first lien priority rights. The Stipulated Order was filed months before the Sheriff's Sale took place. Any ordinarily prudent person intending to bid at a Sheriff's sale would examine the court file to learn what the person would actually be bidding on.

There was also a recorded Notice of Lis Pendens in place well before the subject Sheriff's Sale. By virtue of the recorded Lis Pendens, when Diaz elected to bid at the Sheriff's Sale, he was charged with constructive notice of the court orders and records filed in the Condo Lawsuit to the same extent as if he was a party. RCW 4.28.320.

D. <u>The Trial Court's Award of Attorney Fees as sanctions was not an abuse of discretion and does not present an issue of substantial public interest.</u>

Abuse of discretion is the standard of review for a violation of CR 11. *Cooper v. Viking Ventures* 53 Wn.App 739, 770 P.2d 659 (1989). If a trial court sanction does not reflect that a sanction was manifestly unreasonable or based on untenable grounds, the sanction should be upheld. *Sarvis v. Land Resources, Inc.* 62

Wn.App 888, 815 P.2d 840 (1991), review denied, 118 Wn.2d 1020, 827 P.2d 1012 (1992).

Faced with an unambiguous Court order that essentially decided the merits of his lawsuit, Diaz chose to argue to the trial court that First Horizon's deed of trust were somehow subordinate to the Condo lien and were somehow eliminated at the Sheriff's Sale.

Even a cursory review of the condominium foreclosure case file would have alerted a reasonable person, and certainly an attorney that the Complaint that was filed in this action was baseless as to the facts and the law. At the inception of the Diaz lawsuit, these Respondents provided Plaintiff and counsel with both the documentation and the analysis that spelled out how the Diaz's interest was eliminated by the senior lien deed of trust foreclosure. The facts are undisputed and the court orders in the condominium foreclosure lawsuit speak for themselves.

Plaintiff and counsel went to great lengths to create an argument to avoid what has already been decided by court order in the condominium lawsuit: the super priority lien was paid, the deed of trust liens were fully superior to the condominium lien for assessments, and the deed of trust lender was dismissed from that lawsuit with prejudice.

To get around the court orders in the condominium lawsuit, Plaintiff argued that even though the deed of trust holder was dismissed from the lawsuit with prejudice with its lien priority established, the deed of trust lien was still subject to the condominium foreclosure sale. Plaintiff and counsel represented to the trial court as a statement of fact that the order confirming the sheriff's sale "specifically names First Horizon" as a defendant whose interest was foreclosed at the sheriff's sale. CP 157. This representation was false. Only the Condo Owner and the Bail Bond Company were specifically named in the decree of foreclosure. CP 111-115. Diaz based this statement on the fact that First Horizon was still in the caption of the lawsuit pleadings. CP 157. Diaz also argued that "As a result of the sheriff's sale, under the statute, the deeds of trust were reprioritized and in that instant First Horizon Home Loan and All City Bail Bond became a subordinate junior lienholder whose lien interests were extinguished." CP 161. The "Still in the Caption" argument and the "Reprioritization" theory had no legal merit.

An award of attorney fees of five thousand dollars (\$5,000.00) was an appropriate sanction against Plaintiff's counsel for the CR 11 violations for bringing and opposing the summary

judgment motions. For the same reasons, fees were warranted under RCW 4.84.185 because the Plaintiff's action was frivolous and advanced without reasonable cause. The Court of Appeals ruling upholding the award of sanctions under these circumstances presents no issue of substantial public interest.

V. CONCLUSION.

The petition for review should be denied as this case and Court of Appeals decision involves no issues of substantial public interest. All the issued litigated by Diaz were decided before he bid at the sheriff's sale.